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LED GUILFOY

gperator at cedar pole yard 1.5 hours

Bill Deary compliments a countess at a Wleyerhaeuser
ball, He pays farmers for eggs broken on the train.
He dictates a letter to his secretary,

Bill Helmer builds fires to keep warm while cruising
timber. He mistakes a bear for a person at night.
He tells off a mother bear with cubs. A man touches
a wild deer in Leo's presence.

The magic way salmon find their way back home,

Cedar has become as valuable as white pine. The
spread of blister rust.

Bill Helmer was secretive about his plans. Frank
Mallory gives him a month's food for a three day trip.
Dutch the cook gets stuck in the root cellar with

a bear.

Bill travels the woods: his answer to lLeo's fear
of getting lost. He remembers corners twenty years later.

Bill's brother John (Leo's father-in-law), one of

the five Iron Men of Minn., is abandoned, and rescued
by a trapper in the Canadian jakes' wilderness.

Bill and another brother join in the search. John
dies celebrating his rescue with his friends.

A car-whacker checks loads of poles. Train wheels
checked by hammering. An old railroad car for the
boy scouts. A surprise feast prepared for the scouts
deep in the woods. The scouts were a tough bunch,.
Leo scares scouts who want to dump a member into the
creek,

Bears. The scouts capture two grizzly cubs. A grown
cub scalps a little girl., Martha, a cub, escapes,
scares kids, and climbs a tree in Leo's yard. A
woman shoots a pet bear turned vicious. Falling

a tree in which a bear is hibernating. Russian bears
wonderfully trained.
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17 23 How the movie theatre owner paid for his movies in
hard times. His gas engine goes out and people wait
in the dark theatre.

20 25 Bribing Perd Hughes, the sheriff, for extra hours of
power plant light for night parties. Electricity goes
on Wednesday during the day for ironing.

23 26 Pat Malone's duties and pay. Pat meets a somnambulist.
His tracking abilities. Prisoners cut a hole in the
jail and take leaves.

26 27 A drunk lumber jack proves he didn't set a house on fire.
27 28 More about Perd Hughes. His whiskey still described,
discovered.
Side C
0o 29 Pee Wee Eller outsmarts the cook who wants to "can"

him, His cream puffs burst in lumber jack faces. A
squaw offers to sell her husband,

04 31 Bootleggers go to "college" for nine months in jail.
Deputy sheriffs impersonate jacks to buy booze,
Hunting for hidden booze.

08 32 A new Bovill schoolmarm finds the pork too "astute".
10 33 How drinkers con bartenders.

11 33 Why the camps serve good food.

12 34 The Bovill cedar pole yard., Leo argues over a rotten

pole. Increment borer explained., Cat-face explained,
Leo scaled 1008 poles one day. The yard setup explained.
Leo cuts the end off a pole and fools a teamster.
Creosoting the poles,

24 39 The tracks made by a peg-legged man pushing a wheel=-
barrow in the snow,

26 39 Why Leo gives Cat-Face Ed his name. Leo's creosote plugs
are mistaken for a dead cat., Nutty woodpeckers peck
good poles and smokestacks., Pole industry deadj cedar
now used for panelling.
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II. Transcript



Leo Guilfoy has a sharp eye for the humor in logging life. During
his years with the cedar pole yard at Bovill he remembered the funny side
of everyday incidents, and got a reputation as a joker himself, These
stories tell about such things as Bill Deary meeting a countess at a Weyer=-
haeuser ball, a camp cook getting caught in a root cellar with a bear, an
old lumber jack teasing a schoolmarm, Pat Malone being wakened by a sleep-~

walker, and Leo Guilfoy playing a nice trick on some hungry baoy scouts.
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LEC GUILFOY: This old Bill Deary, he was superintendent, he didn't have much

of an education. But he was smart., I think I told you that one, about

the uWeyerhaeusers used to come ocut here, y'know, the lWayerhaeusers was scme
neople, see. Their headquarters was in 5t. Paul. And they'd come out here,
and they'd get acguainted with the men, call them by their first name. Uuell,
when a bunch of the young Weyerhasusers come out here, and old Bill Deary,

he uwas superintendent of the whole outfit--ch they had guite a few camps,

the Potlatch did, around here, arcund Bovill and all around that country,

S50 he shouwed them a good time out in the logging camps, and they said, "uell,
Bill, now believe me, when you cocme back, we'll get you back in 5t. Paul,

and we'll show you a good time."

Jell they got him cornered up there in S5t. Paul at a great big ball.
And they got him sidetracked in the reception room with a countess. They
got him in there to introduce him to the countess, He looked her up and
doun and he says, "50 you're a countess!"

"Yes," she said, "I'm a countess."

"Boy," he says, "you're the first countess I ever saw," but geez you're
some chicken!™ (Laughs.) And they were peeking in, listening in on the
door, y'know. (Laughs.)

They asked the countess afteruwards, "dhat did you think of that old
lumber jack?"

"Ohhh," she said, "I thought he was wonderful., There's one thing about

hims he tells you what he thinks." (Laughs.)

S5AM SCHRAGER: Is that the kind of a guy that 8ill Deary was? He'd tell you
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what he thoughi?

L G: OCh yeah, you bet, yeah. There was this train down there from Bovill
down to Palouse., All the touwns had a college name., And then people'd go
in there and they had stump ranches y'know, and raise chickens, and all that.
And one of the depot agents was going to see Bill Deary, he was in the hesad-
guarters there at Bovill. And he said, "Some of these families are kicking
because their eggs are getting broken," he said, "and they want to be paid
for them.,"

"Jell," Bill says, "pay 'em," he said, "sure, pay 'em," he said. "The
chickens are scratching their asses everyday to lay more., Wwhat do we care?"
(nggﬁg.) And they give him a secretary, girl secretary? "All right," Bill
said, the letter come in, you know? "All right, letter,'" he said toc her.
"Here, take this down. 'I have your letter of the fourteenth before me, and
pretty scon it'll be behind me.'" (Laughs.) That's the way he was,

S5AM: He's the man that bought up a lot of that timber for them to start with.

L G Yeh, him and cold Bill Helmer blew in here in the early days. They cruised
that timber and bought it. From all around there, Elk River and all around
that country. And they'd go out, old Bill would go out in the morning with
a compass man and be gone all day, and maybe it'd snow. And then they'd sit
in that snow and build a great big fire, and the heat would hit the snow, and
it'd keep 'em warm. And they'd be gone all day, y'knowe.

SAMs This is Bill Helmer?

L G: Yeah. He was quite a cruiser. I think I told you about them, when he had
a quy with him, a compass man with him, his name is Eddie Erickson. And
they were about five miles from town, £ddie was quite a drinking guy. And
he walked into town, y'know, and Bill stayed out in the woods there, sleep
right on the floor. And the bacon they stuck under the mattress, so the

bear wouldn't get it. And late at night someone was shoving under the mattress,



y'knouw, and Bill was sleeping there in the bed thought it was Eddie Erickson
coming back drunk. He said, "Get in bed, you drunken sonofabitch," and he
had ahold of the bear! (Laughs.) He thought he had Eddie Erickson. That
put the bear in bed with him,.

SAM:  You told me he wasn't scared of bears or the big game.

L G: No. Well y'know, I was along with him there, and I had the compass, y'knouw.
I had to go in a straight line, so that he could work that side from me,
y'know, where he was at. And there was a bear with two cubs. The tree was
a little sloping, and one of the cubs was up a little ways. And I stopped,
and Bill says, "WJhat's the matter with ya?"

"yell," I says, "I'm not goin' by that thing."

"Aw hell," he said, "give me the compass." And he come over and got it
from me, y'know, And he walked to it. Keep on a-goin', talking to it, and
he says, "lLady, if you don't get them cubs out of the way, there's gonna
be something happen. The Potlatch'll shoot 'em." (Laughs.) Talking to the
bears there right as he went by. 'Course, I got up there quite aways, and
then I took the compass off him, then he went back where he belonged, sizing
those trees up, see. And he was a good cruiser. You bet. Uonderful cruiser.

SAM: Do you think that the animals knew that...

L G: Now I was trying to tell you here about, I saw an old cedar maker. The
0llld cedar makers go out in the woods, and they'd get a strip, and the quy
would show 'em what's their strip--all the timber on there, you'd make that.
And this old guy told me. I went out to check some of the poles, and he
told me, he says, "I can put my hand on the deer."

"Ahh, you can't do that.,"™ I stuck around there quite awhile, a couple
hours there, and watched him. And he did touch it. It shook all over when
he touched it. VYeahe. UWell, I don't know whether the deer...Well y'knouw

there's some horses could trust ya and won't trust others.
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SAM: That's right.

L G: ...And a dog likes ya and he hates somebody else, for no reason whatsoever.
They have a second sight on people. Look at the fish, look at these salmon,
steelhead. They go out tiny, that big. They leave the river and go down
miles down the river, out in the ocean for four years. And they come back
to where they uwere spawned. Now, nobody ever had any word what they do that for.
But lately they're thinking they smell the water. Oh boy, that salmon, that's
something., They go up all these dams. Now they come in, go up the Columbia,
y'know, at Portland, and come on up here, and come up all these little creekSees
Now they picked one up before it spawned and trucked it right across land,
and put it back in the ocean. And that sonofagun--they have it marked--and
that little sonofagun will come back, right back, go back up the same rivere..
Go back down the river into the ocean, then down around and back up the mouth
of the Columbia and up. Look at all the creeks and streams that flows into
that Columbia, and all these little tributaries of the Columbia that flouws
in. Uell they know just where they're goinge. And the poor damn things,
y'know, they spawn, and the buck salmon goes with them. And when they spawn,
then the buck goes ahead of them, and he covers the eggs with his spauwn, see.
And then they both go away and die! They don't get back to the ocean, they
die. Right away! Set douwn the river. They're dead all along the river,

5Af:  It's incredible.

L Gs t is., Now they talk about pigeons and things like that finding their way,
but that salmon is it. And you know, in their absence~~a little tiny fish
that big--and in their absence, a lot of those creek mouths and beds have
changed! Probably they dam, in the four years, they dam one right up! Houw
do they knouw? Now they claim now, theay think they smell the water. Before
they Jjust said instinct and all that. And all the way up fisherman are try-

ing to get 'em, all the way up the river. And they generally pick where they



spawn, it's a small place not very deep, and lots of loose gravel on it. And
the male fish makes 2 hole with the tail and puts the sperm in there, and the
male goes above her, and when he puts his sperm right in there it covers that
hole. For every thousand that's hatched from the ego, there's only 10% of
'em ever survive to get back to the ocean. Look at all the dams all the way
doun!

SAM: It's incredible.

L G: Look at all the commerical fisherman ell the way down. I got a kid here,
the grandson here, he fishes for salmon right along, and steelhead. Yes it
is, it's incredible, the return of the salmon. Gee, that's something that
they can't figure out.

SAM: Do you think that Bill Helmer just had a real special instinct for working
in the woods?

L G: UWell, they get that way, yeahe. They get that way. Yeah. They get that
way, y'knou, and the trees 1s his.e..And a white pipe tree, in those days,
the white pine trees was it. I used to go out and cut all my wood, y'knou,
but I cut tamarack and red fir, that was the best firewocod. In those days
everything was free. But you couldn't touch white pine. You could touch
everything else, but not white pine.

SAM: It was too valuable?

L G: VYeah, it was the valuable, it was then. But 'course now it's sky high.

e

I was talking to a sawmiller down in Clarkston not long ago. He said, "You
were telling your dad that cedar wasn't near the price of white pine." He
said, "I just want to show ya." And cedar now is a little above white pine,
because this paneling they've got today, beautiful cedar paneling for all
over the house., Years ago white pine was the lumber in the house. They'd

make your cabinets, and all that, built-in, out of white pine. It's a light,



it's a nice colored wood, and easy to work. Tamarack is almost semi-hard-
wood,

S5AM: uas there much white pine disease when you were in the woods then, or has it
just gotten much, much worse?

L Gs¢ It's getting much, much worse. You knouw, let's say 1920, then they realized
how bad it was getting. So far they don't know how to curtail it., They
thought some of these gooseberry bushes and things like that, which is righte=~
the pollen from them would go to the white tree and back, and then back to
the white pine. And then they start in. They call it blister rust. They
don't plant white pine anymore, because they can't control it. They can't
control the disease. It just came from Europe to Canada, and then doun
here,

SAM:s It hit the East coast and Maine first..e.

L s They call it, well I think they've always called it white pine blister.

It came to Canada and then up across Canada, and then came down this way.

By that time when it got here in '20, '21, most of all the white pine, good
virgin white pine that was in Maine, that was mostly all cut, see., I be-
lieve the forestry, I think has guit planting the white pine. Now there was
some German, he was up here at a place called Pierce, up at Headguarters,

and he brought a certain kind of bug from Germany, and oh they thought they
had it., But it didn't work out. This bug would kill the white pine blister,
but it didn't work out so good.

SAM: I remember the story that you told me about Bill Helmer and the cook.

Would you tell me that one again?

L G: (Chuckles:) Uell, I got it in there, yeah (pointing at his copy of The

Trees Grew Tall)., UWell anyhow, Bill was a guy, he was 100% Potlatch. You
ask him, he kept everything secret, see, "Well," he'd say, '"do you want to
go out?"

"Yeh, I want to go out with you. How long will you be out?"



"Ohhheeo!

"Jhich way are we going?"

"ye're going north, south." That's all see.

"How long will we be out?"

"Ohh, a week or so, maybe." UWell, anyhow, he started out,--I wasn't with
him then-=he started out, he took about eight men. And he was going to run
around a bunch of timber, and he had the men to blaze trails, sc that you
could go round. And he knew of an old homesteader's place that would just
suit him to camp. The homesteader was gone. And so he told them which way
he was going. And they got two wagons loaded with groceries, great big
horses, y'know, loaded with groceries. A guy named Frank fallory loacded
'emy, I'1l tell you a joke Frank played on him after that. And of course he
said, "Bill how long are ya going?"

"Aw," Bill would tell him, "oh, maybe three or four days, a week.,"
(Jell, I'11 tell ya this other story first, before I tell you the one I uwas
gonna tell ya.) Well, Frank'd load up, y'know, and hell, he'd be gone only
a couple of days, and he'd have enough grub there for a week, longer than
thate 50 Frank got mad at him, and boy after that, one time he said, "Bill,
how long are we going?"

"Oh, we'll be gone about, oh, a week or two.” uell, Frank loaded up
enough for a month. Got out there, and he was only there three days!
(nggﬂg.) He had to haul all this stuff back, y'know., And they fed good,
sea, There was nothing they couldn't order. And they fed good.

Uell anyhow this time, about that...There was an old Dutchman, and he
was a good camp cook, wonderful., Bill always tried to get him. Well, this
time Bill had hired him and about eight men to go out, about seven or eight
men. Well, when he got out to this camp, he set the men all morning working

on it, fixing everything up for the cook. And tables, fixing them all up.



They brought a nice big stove uwith them. And he said, "Now Dutch,™ he
said, "I've done everything I can for ya. If you want me, I'll leave you a
man here." He said, "We got all your wood cut, and everything else, and we
got all groceries in that roothouse over there," ogood size roothouse.

Well Dutch says, "No," he says, "when will you be back?"

"lell," he said, "we'll be back by six o'clock."

"yell," Dutch said, "everything here will be ready." And he was a good
cook, and he had everything to cook with, Well when they got through out
there they come in, all tired out, y'know, Some of the men rushed to the
kitchen. And they come back and said, "Bill, the stove ain't been lit."

He said, "There's something wrong." Said, "Dutch isn't there."

Yell, Bill told them, "Well now, scatter out and track him. See if
you can track him. Now, this might be serious." 5o they got tracking all
around, Uell, two went ocver to the roothouse. And pretty socon when thsy
got to it, "Hwweeyy!" Dutch was hollering to beat hell, YThere's a bear in
here! There's a bear in here!"™ (Laughs.)

Those old lumber jacks are funny too. "Well Jesus Christ Dutch, what
do you weant to take a bear in there with ya for?" (Laughs.)

"I didn't take him in here. He was in here when I came in!" And so
thesy went and told Bill he was in there with the bear. Bill said, "uhat
the hell is a Dutchman doing in there with a bear?" (nggﬁg.) He spottead
a tree there, he knew the door opened in, see. He'd been round there before.
5o he got them to this little dead cedar snag, it was a big long pole, y'knou.
"And now," he said, "we'll push that out and let the bear out,"

Jell, they got it there at the place, and the bear got his front part
out, but not his hind part, his hips. "Grrrrr," he was tearing up like

(pawing with his hands), a lumberjack said, "Hey Dutch, let go of his tail

so he can get out!" (Laughs.) And they couldn't push the door any more,
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because the bear was stronger than they were. And they hollered, "Let go of
hime"

"I'p not ahold of his tail, I'm in the corner way over here, I'm not a-
hold of his tail, I'm away from him!" Now he'd been in there about four
hours 1 guess, with that bear. And he couldn't go forward 'cause the bear
guarded the door, he wanted toc get out,

Uell, he told them, he took two of the men out, he said, "You take
double bitted ax apiece and stand right there. Now that bear comes out,
he's gonna jump us. So you know what to do when he starts out after us."
And so they pushed it, y'know, some more. The bear got out,.

And then they kidded, said, "Hey Dutch, uhere's his tail? He ain't got
a tail on him." (Laughs.) "Where's his tail, Dutch?" (Laughs.) And
Dutch got out, he's going home. A long ways over to £lk River.

"Oh," Bill said, "nmow wait a minute, Dutch. You're not going home,"
he saide "Not your fault,'" he said. And he says, "I'll stop these guys
kidding ya about pulling the tail off the bear." And he went back, and
Bill sent all the men over there to the kitchen to help him fix things up,
y'know. And everything was wonderful from then on, After that, old Dutch,
when he opened the door, he looked to see whether a bear in there. (Laughs.)
He told Bill, he said, "If he's in there, he's going to stay in there be-
cause I'm not gonna go in with him" {lauching) And they stayed out there, oh
I den't know, a couple of weeks maybe.

Boy, he could travel in the woods, holy moses. You see the way he
dressed there with a compass in his hand?¥* Boy, could he travel in the
woods--great big hat, and he'd dodge under this brush, y'know. This time
I was out with him, y'know, and God, it was getting dark, y'know. "By God,
Bill," I says, "we're lost." And he was little bit humorous once in awhile,

We were lost and gee, we were going through dense brush when it got dark.
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And we both came up into a clearing. And he looked over, and he said, "You'll

be not lost. There's the moon." (Laughs.) There's the moon, we're not lost.
Now, I've been with him sometimes when he's looking for a corner, maybe

20 years ago that it had been established., They'd line for a witness tree,

and then chop notches in the trees around it. "By golly," he said, "it should

be right...," it's 20years or more. "It should be arounc here somewhere,"

and "help me look." Well I wasn't much good at looking for it., "My God,"

he said. He looked at that tree, and there wasn't a blemish on it that I

could see. Took his ax, and he chopped it out, and there it was. 'Cause

it covered it over, see, the growth'd covered it over. And then he found

where the corner was. That corner was established, and they used to use them

old cornerse.

58M: He'd remembered from when he'd been there before.

L G: Yehs He remembered 20 years ago, longer than that. He remembered being
there 20 years ago. Probably that same day it'd been 15 or 20 corners. But
he remembered right there. He said there was a small white fir, and it was
a big white fir then, grown up in 20 years.,

SAM: I suppose if he hadn't been a timber cruiser maybe 20, 30 years before,
he could have been a trail blazer or a trapper.

L G: 0Oh yeah, sure. Uuell he wasn't a trapper, he worked around timber all his
life,

S5AfMl: I wonder if he ever got lost.

L G: No. But his brother did, and that was my wife's dad. And his brother was
better than he was. Well, of course thisstory I'm going te tell you nou
wouldn't mean anything with Latah County. But anyhow, her dad, his name was
John Helmer. He was a iron man, y'know, he was one of the five iron men of
Minnesota. A miner, and he was cruiser, and everything else with it. And

he was gonna look for some gold. And he took a geologist, that is, a university
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geocgist--wasn't a field man, but he knew all about geclogy, y'know, minerals
and stuff like that. And it was right in the middle of July, hot, and he
took him up to some lakes up in Canada. And they had two canoes, one that
him and his geologist was sitting in, and a great big sonofagun trailing it
behind, with the grub and all that stuff in it. So the geologist was an
office man and he'd never paddled a canoe, y'know. And John had pulled that
canoe all the way up. ARd he come to a point and now he told thes geologist,
he said, "Now I'm going to investigate, look around here, and see what I

can find." Well he was gone quite a bit, long time. The geologist got
worried, and he pulled out to the other side of the lake. He left the big
cance, and he pulled out with the little canoe other side of the lake. And
then got scared, and he didn't go back the next day. uWell John, he knew he
was lost., He waited quite awhile, and he couldn't figure out what the guy
hacd donee. Then ha started, he knew that about 20 or 30 miles from there,
there was two lakes came together. And there was a portage between the two
lakes. You know what a portage is, where they drag the canoe over, where
one lake pours into the other? And he said, "I'1ll get right there and

wait, and catch somebody portaging douwn.' Well he made that all right, he
had nothing to eat, only mushrooms. And he made that place there, and he
was just about gone., It took him quite a few days to get through the brush.
And he was Jjust about gone.

And there was a guy, his name was Jack Harkness, he was a trapper, and
he was coming in for his six months grub stake? And he heard an animal there.
Well, the wind was blouwing on the wrong side, and Harkness come down on
this side of the lake=--otherwise he'd have been on that side, on his portage
up above the lake. And he heard something in the brush when hz was coming
down that side because the wind was blowing that way, and he thought it was

an animal. 50 he pulled the canoe up ashore and got his rifle out there.



And ‘here was old John, and he was eaten up by black flies. So he got him
into this little canoe, and he had some flour with him, and he shot a coupnle
of birds and made soup with his flour, and fed him just a little bit, y'knouw.
And he made three portages with him into this big main lake? And in the
meantime this Bill here, right here from Bovill, and the other brother same
as he was, cown here in Oregon there-~Baker, Oregon, you knou where that is?
All right, in Baker, Oregon--they got together, and they flew right back
there.

S5AM:s  To look for him?

L Gy To Duluth, they flew back to Duluth, and got all ready to go on expedition
to hunt for him. And the Northuwest Mounties--they were in Canada then, sesg--
and the Northwest Mounties helped them. And this one from Beker, he got
Indians, a couple of Indians, and dogs, and a canoe, and hs went up by
water, And Bill, the Northuwest Mounties flew him up there. They had no
hydroplanes, y'know, those days, that landed on the lake. And in the mean-
time, this trapper bringing John down. There was an island in the middle
of this lake. And this gquy from Baker was going up that way, and the Indian
said, "Oh, no, that's just Harkness coming around the island this way," with
John., 'Course he was laying down flat in the canoe. "Oh," they said, "no,
don't, you don't have to stop and see him, because he comes down about this
time for his grub, to buy his grub. Well Harkness didn't know who they was.
And they passed each other, they didn't pass by--one uwas just going the edge
of the island, and he was coming around this side of the island. And he
kept on, and he made a couple of more portages down thers.

And there was a little mining shack, a young doctor there. And they got
him in to this young doctor, and the young doctor savvied right away. He
said, "We won't feed him, we'll just barely break him in." And he got him

standing on his feet, and by that time the Northwest Mounties had brought



old Bill back. And then the other guy brousht the Indians and

And I forget now, Bill give this Jack Harkness, I think it was

14

the dogs backe.

six or eight

hundred dollars. And the other one from Baker, he gave him $600. And that

trapper said, "My God," he said, "that's the best trapping I ever had in my

life." (Laughs.) And the young doctor told him, he said, "You done wonder-

ful, just feeding him easy." He'd shoot a bird, y'know, and boil it, and use

a little flour for soup.

But anyhouw, they oot him to a port in Canada, Fort William in Canada.

And he knew so many of them oldtimers around there, they celebrated, and by

God, they killed him, celebrating. Here they fed him up, y'know, and gee,

he ate so much, and he got pneumonia and died. (Chuckles.) This young

doctor, he told them what to feed him. He was just out of school. He told

the trapper, "8y god you done fine," he'd hauled him in good shape. He'd

just shoot some kind of a bird, y'know, and boil it, and make soup uith the

flour.
SAM: So what ever happened to this geologist, did he get back all
L G: VYeah, he got back home all right., Of course they bawled the
him., It wasn't his fault, he wasn't that kind of man.
5Afs  Crazy.
L G: Yeah., That was Bill's brother John, Betty's father. He was

He had four, five kids go to school at one time, college. She

right himself?

hell out of

quite a man.

went to

Lawrence College in Appleton, Wisconsin, It's a wonderful college. She

majored in the violin. That's a thing, water under the bridge
now, I'm just taking you away from...

SAM: That's okay, that's a good story,.

now., GOkay

L G Yeah, but then that wouldn't be nothing to do with Latah County.

SAMs Noe. But still, it's Bill's brother.

L G: VYeah. A lot of these oldtimers, when I was down to Orofing,

old Finlanders



around there, they all knew hime. Said he came into the bank there one day
and sold some of his claims, mining claims. He walked out with a guarter of
a million dollars. A guarter of a million dollars those days was a lot of
money today. Bui he had trouble with his wife. But they had four or five
noing to college at the same time. That's gquite an expense.

SAM:  Umehme It sure as heck is,

L G: uWell now we'll get down to...I wish I had more of theses...

(End of Side A)

Here, I1'1l give you an idea. All right, Uue had a guy in there, I

can't think of his name now. He was what we call a carwhacker. Now I'1l
tell you what a caruhacker is. All right. They ship lots of poles and lots
of timber, see. Uell he got to examine the loads, sse whether they were all
right, see if they would make it. If you loaded a load of poles, he'd
examine that the load was loaded and see that the clearance was all right.
F'rinstance with an ovsrhang like that, here's your flatcar, there are
bunks across there and these big long poles, y'know, they'd have to stick
right over the other car, see. 'Cause the flat car would only be about 40
feet long, 45. Uell it'd be down this way and there'd be a bunk across there,
and they'd stick probably out eight or nine feet. Uell you have to timber
them up good, y'know, and see that you had clearance when they swung around
curves, see-that the pole wasn't sticking a way out that uwaye.

S5AM:  They called him a couwhacker?

L Gt A car.

SAMs A carwhacker.

L G: Flat car, yeah. Then when a passenger train'd come, he'd go along there
and hit the wheels with a hammer. They don't do it anymore. And if they

rang, sometimes there'd be a cracked wheel., Thzy used them right in these
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big cities, you'd see a passenger train'd pull in, and this guy'd go and hit
the wheels with his hammer right along the train, both sides. Ancd if they
didn't ring they were cracked, and right there and then they'd take that
section out and put a new one in, 'Course I don't think they do it anymore,
no. udell anyhbm, he drank a little, but he got to be a boy scout leader, not
leader, but the guy that...You probably know more than I do.

Well, troup, scoutmaster.

That's it, scoutmaster, he got to be scoutmaster, and he was wonderful
with them. Well I used to help them. There was one big outfit, lumber com=-
pany, 0ld Jimmy Sullivan, I told Jimmy, I said, "Now you're leaving these
cars out here," and I said, "you won't fix them. What's the matter with
donating them? Let the boy scouts use them," Nice big dining rooms on them,
y'know, and plenty of room and all that. uWell, they'd say, "Okay." Uell
I'd gel 'em, and I'd tell the scoutmaster, "Now you'll have that for camp-
ing." 0h, they had a wonderful time. And buddy they were a tough bunch.
0h boy, they were a tough bunch.

And this time, I told ya about this one, where we fixed up this old

logging camp up in the woodsY UWe got the dining room up there, and we fixed
it all up. UWe took the boy scouts out, and we kept them away from where

'em

they could eat for guite awhile. And we got 'em in a slec and took
waay out and back. e got the big team from the Potlatch, and the kids was
all in this big hay, there was hay on the bottom. And god they were kicking
about being hungry, and took a long time, y'know. And turned around and on
the way back, I said, "Now listen, just suppose, look at that shack there.
All in darkness and wilderness there," y'know. 1 said, "Now just suppose

some quy'd come out there and rang the triangle bell and hollered 'Come and

get iti'"

o



SAMe

L

Gs

S5AM:

L

G:

17

"Oh rrrrghrrrrghrrrrgh, come and get it. UWe're starving to death!"

He said, "It's going to take about five hours to get back to town. And we've
got nothing to eat, and you wouldn't bring anything with you. Uhat's the
matter with you?"

Well I was working up to this. And when we got right to this place,
well there was a word I hollered, I forget what it was. And they heard it.
And pretty soon--they had gasoline lamps=--and it was all lit up there, and
a cook came out with a white hat on, and he rung the triangle there, "Come
and get it!" And those kids, their eyes poppecd out! You could knock their
eyes off with a stick. And they looked at that, "uwell," I said, "what the
hell's the matter with you kids? You're dreaming!" (Laughs.) And boy
they had a great big feed, oyster stew and everything else on the table.
Yeah, right on the table there, y'know. O0h, you coulda died.

You kept them on their toces.

Oh yeah, kept them. Before that we kept them away from eating. UWe said
we were going to eat over there before we leave town. An old lumber jack
driver, I told him, y'know, he said, "I'1ll fix them.," He said, "I'1ll go
way arcund out on the other side of town." Come right out in the brush, and
(chuckles) nothing to eat, y'know. Oh boy, when they saw that, they never
forgot that. Some of those kids live their life today, and they never forgot
that.

WUhen you say they were pretty tough, what do you mean they uwere a pretty
tough bunch?

Well, y'know, they'd never been trained like regular boy scouts. They would
do anything, y'know. They'd always been on their own in the woods. Shoot
and everything else. They wasn't trained, but good shots and all that.

They'd shoot anything they seen. They didn't live up to the law very good.



Yeah. Then coming back there (from Camp Grizzly), wanting to throw old

Marvin out because he threw up on the bedding. "Stop at the creek and we'll

throw him in the creek!" (Chuckles.) The creek was deep! '"Here, throuw
him in the creek, nc you got to!" All together, stuck together, "Throuw

him in the creek." (And PMarvin's sick up here now in a rest home.) And

onna throw him in the creek. uWell when she {Lec's wife) stopped, I could
E20 S Will ppeu,

see  therc was something wrong.

And she said, "You'll have to take this bunch, I can't handle them."

I said, "I got a pretty good bunch here, and you're having trouble with
them." Now I said, "But stop and wait for me." Well I took this other bunch,
y'know, and gea, I bawled the hell out of them. And when they got to this
guy, The State of Mainer we called him. Oh he was a great big guy, he had
a hand that was as big as an arm, you know, I told him, I says. "I'm having
trouble with these kids, and you are the sheriff, the deputy sheriff."”

"Okay," he said, And he come up there. "Where are they?"

Well, I said, "What are you gonna do with them, sheriff?"

"ell," he said, "I've got a place that's dug down in the ground." He
said, "It's deep enough they can't climb out of it." And he said, "I can keep
'em there about a wesk, and throw them a little bread and something once in
auhile."

Oh boy, "ue'll be good, we'll be good!" (Laughs.) "We'll be good."
They was good the rest of the way. Then when we got to town the women come
out, y'know,.

"How was the boy?"

"Ohhh," I said, "they were wonderful." (Chuckles.)

That was the same trip with the bears?
Yeah, the damnad idiots. They'd captured two cubs, and they told me. Thay

said one of thzam got away--the mother come and got one of them. I said, "By
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god, you crazy bastards.'" I sald, "It's a wonder she didn't take you instead
of the cub." They were living in an old tent. Here's that grizzly sorting
out his cubs and taking one of them. O0Oh I called them all the nuts I could
think of.

S5AM:  I'd think they'd know better than that coming from woods country,.

L G: WNo, that's why they were so tough. hey were gonna bring one of them

home. {(Chuckles.) Yeah. There used to be a lot of cubs picked up in the

L G: Yeah. There was one not so very long ago picked up. A couple of wood
cutters dropped one across the momma bear, see, and the next time they went
back, the little cub was crying in the tree, see. S0 they brought him into
town. They aive him to a guy that run a poultry yard up here., And this Gene,
my grandson, he was just about five or six. And this little girl, her name
was (Olson, she was a little bit older. And she had a 1ittle apron on, and
she had a couple cookies in the pocket. And I said, "No," I said, "I'm watch-
ing this kid now," I said, I forget her first name. "No he's not gonna go up
with you to feed the bear," cub, y'see, well grown too., I said, "He's not
gonna qo up there.," And she got mad and pushed him on his own little tricycle,
pushed him way over. And she went up there, and she went out and I quess
the bear got mad at her because she wasn't feeding him enough cut of her
pocket. And he suddenly grabbed her and he scalped her from thers right douwn,
The hair--took the hair and =zverything, he scalped her right there with his
clawss I was asking Gene the other day, I said, "How is she?" "uwell," he
said, "she's in college." The hsad, after she was scalped, got leathery,
like leather. It wasn't white, you know. And they couldn't do a thing with
her until she crsw up, her head grew up, see. And she went that way, and now

I guess they fixed her with a wig and everything else. She looks pretty qood



5AM:

L

Ge

5AM:

L

-
e

nou.

This was just a cub, huh?

well, full grown cub. And everybody in those families douwn there carried
a gun.

Is this families in Bovill you mean?

Yeah, quite a few of them. And there was a family named Hall's, they all
came from Kentuckye. They were all out and lived in the woods in Kentuckye.
And they come, in this family they had a girl and a boy, and the old man and
a woman. They logged and sold timber and all that. And the CC's, you've
heard of the CC's? 0K, they dug out a bear with four cubs, and as a rule
two is all they have. But this one had four. And they raised them, and they
took them down and had them in a store here for awhile. And then when they
got ready to leave, they couldn't take 'em with 'em, and they give this
Hall's man two of the cubs, two of these cubs. And they put them in a little
shack, it wasn't a trailer, a little shack. And they kept 'em in that little

shack, and them bears'd tear the core up, woooooo, even the windowsills

and everything. And they called them after George Washington, George and
Martha is what they called them.

Well, one day £d was coming to town. He had 'em in a truck, panels
on the side on the truck., And they'd climb up the side and then they'd hang
out, ccecchh, they'd hang by the collar. Then they'd climb back in and go back
in. Uell when they were passinc by my place...My kid was just about eight
years old, they were playing baseball. And it was Martha--not George, Martha
hung on. Getting pretty big now. And slammed, y'know, and broke~--the collar
broke. And he didn't see it, he kepton going to toun. And she saw these kids
nlaying baseball, and she ramblec right over. And the kids shot right over,.
And I had the door already open for 'em, y'know, to come in, And they had

a collie dog, and boy he was the last one (chuckles). He was yelping though,
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the bear was catching up with him. And I got my kids in there, and they had
a couple of kids with them. I got 'em in the door and I closed the door.
And there was one guy, he had infantile parlysis, and boy you ought to see
him go! God, his name was Evans--geez, he flew right up the steps. And he
couldn't hardly walke. And the bear come and stayed around my place, and he
went up a tree in the back yard.

5AM: The bear?

L G: Yeh. I told the kids, "Now you stay in there." So I found out where Ed
was, he was dountown, and I called him up, and he come up there. And I said,

"Jhat are ya gonna do?"

"yell," he said, "will you help me?"
I said, "It all depends." Uell, she was up the tree, Martha. And he
hit her on the feet, telling her to come down, so he could put a collar on her,
Geeee, laying with his paws, y'know, "Gggggrrh!"
Well I said, "Now wakt a minute Ed. Don't hit that bear while I'm
around, because I'm not going to help ya." He beat the hell out of her uwith
a club (gﬂyckles). Well he got the collar back on it and got it back in there.
And it wasn't very long later, his wife was in the kitchen. From the
house to the barn they'd covered it in so they could walk out to the barn
without the snow in winter, see. And here was one of them bear coming doun,
and she knew that there was something wronge. He was growling and coming down.
And she couldn't get time to close the kitchen door. But they always carried
quas, rifles. And there was a rifle there, 30-30 rifle, and sha got it and
leaned it right over the table, And she let him have it right there. She
hit him right square where it'd kill him, do the work., He fell down right
thers. Anc he was coming after her. I often wondered why the hell he ke:t
the things at all.

Another time thess two guys was sawing a tree down, a wood tree, hollow.
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And I was up there watching them. And "By God, wait a minute!™ I said,
And there was hair coming out, you know, with those crosscut saws? There
was hair coming out every once in auwhile., I said, "There's a bear in there!"

And he sald, "Wew-was there?"

"Yegah," I said. "Looka here." EZvery once in awhile it would catch him
a little bit with the saw. And he was hibsrnating in there.

"Well," he said, "what do we do?"

"Jell," I said, "the only way to do is..." You know when you fall a
tree, for instance, here's the tree right there. Now there's a certain way
you want to fall it--you want to fall it that way or this way see, so it
would easier for you to saw it up. uWell you notch this part right here, and
then chop in, and then you go in the back of the tree, and saw it back there,
and it'11 fall that way.

SAMs The side that your notch is on.

L G: VYeah. Uhen it leans a little bit, it will go that way. Uell I said, "The
only way to do now is fall the trese, and then run when you see the trse going."
They knew which way they were going to fall it, Well, as soon as the tree
was felled, the bear got down a little bit low, and he jumped, flew right out
through the tree, and he took off. (Chuckles.) You know, a cub, a bear
when he's born, he's only about that long. A little bit of a, it's the smallest
animal there is for the size of animal that gives it birth. Nothing to it.

5AMs Do you think bears are pretty intelligent? Do you think they're pretty
smart?

L G: O0h yeah. MNow, you ever see these on television, these Russians with the
bear? O0Oh God, do they train 'em. Oh they're really wonderfully trained,
wonderful, There's a lot of bear in Russia, that's a great country for bear.
WYonderfully trained, you've never seen...You'd think they were really human

with some of the stunts they do with 'em., I believe they're far better



trained than a lion or a tiger or any of the cat family.

SAM: They seem to have a real, almost human kind of intelligence.

L G: Yeahs

5AM:  They remind me of peoples

L G: That's right, yeah. And the way they walk around y'know. They'll walk
on their hind feet better than most animals do. Oh the bears are wonderful,
they catch these cub bears and they train them pretty good. Those Russians,
they bring 'em over to this country, and geez, they took 'em on the circus
and things like that. They're wonderful.

SAM: I want you to tell me some more that happened around early Bovill.

L G: Yeah, I wish I could really think of them now. Y'know, sometimes you're
hopped up and you can think of them one after the other.

5AM: Well, one starts another one.

L G: VYesah, that's right.

SAM:  You told me one that I could think of...

L G: Nou here's what would be better. WNow like for Johnny Miller, he'd start
one and I'd think of another one.

SAM: I'm thinking of the one that you told me about the guy with the movie
theatre, The movie theatre one. That's a good one.

L G: Oh yeah. I'd hate like hell to put his name in bscause...

5AM: Don't say his name. Go ahead, you can leave his name out,.

L G: well now, she (Leo's wife) was postmaster see (at Bovill). And business
wasn't very rushing. And he didn't have encugh money on a Saturday to get
these out. A good run would be maybe $40, maybe 60--the films, see, to take
up there and run through. And she let him take them for quite awhile, and
then she got to thinking...

S5AM: Let him take what?

L G: The films, without paying for ‘em.
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SAM: Oh he was supposed to pay at the post office.

L G: Yeah, they'd come in parcel post, see, maybe {60 on 'em, something like
that. And she lent it to him a few times there, and then she got to
thinking. GShe said, "Now, that'd be terrible if they found out, 'cause
I'm not supposed to do that."

Then he made a deal with us. He said, "Well, all right. I'll let
them all in, take all the money, and come and get you and your wife, and we'll
go down and get the film, and pay her the money. And then start up." (Chuckles.)
And he had a little gas engine outside that run 'em=--chug, chug, chug,
chugging along. And lots of times that'd go "Bccech," and it'd blow out
and stop, y'know. And he's running around working on the sonofabitch, trying
to crank it to get it going. We'd be sitting in there watching--nothing.
It'd be a couple of hours, and he wouldn't give you your money back (chuckles),
no. He would, but you'd have to set there a long time before he'd give it
to you back.

5AM: You sat and waited until he got it going again?

L G: Oh yeah, waited until he could get the thing started. Then we got electricity
in there. They built a plant of their own right there. They bought a great
big steam engine and built a plant of their own, electrical plant. And at
eleven o'clock, you'd be sitting arocund and the light would blink, three times.
You'd better get in bed right now! The lights are all going out. All right,
supposinn you were throwing a party, which we did pretty often. Throwing
a party. Well when the lights started to blink, you'd pass the hat around
to all the ouests, and put something in. And then you'd take the hat down
to the guy that run the engine down there. And you'd take his fingers and
push 'em all around in there. "All right," he'd say, "Leo, you can have tuwo
hours more.' When our two hours come Up...'Course there was a big pot in

there, you could have three hours, four hours, and all night (laughs).



SAM: He left the light on the uhole town, huh?

L G: Of course all the others, as soon as they seen that blink go, they'd shut
off. All the others, they'd all go to bed. Thay were used to it. And he'd
leave the light on, we coulc use it then, see. The others wouldn't want to
use it, because they was gone to bed. And than on a Wednesday, in the morning
he'd turn her on, and you got two hours of ironing. It was ironing, y'knou,
two hours,

5A4Ms 50 everybody ironed Wednesday morning, huh?

L G: Wednesday, and sometime that aftesrnoon, sometime Wednesday, he'd give you
two or three hours to get your iron out and iron. It was different than
this kid of electricity we've got now. It was straight electricity. It
was good. Then the uwashington Water Power bought this outfit out.

5AM:  Then the lights started to stay on all the time.

L G: Then we got the same light as this, yeah. But he was laughable, we'd pass
the hat around, y'know (chuckles). His name was Perd Huches. You'd take
his fincer and push it all around., "dJell..."

I said, "Well uwhat?"
"Jyell, oo over it again.'" He missed a nickel (laughs). "All right
Leo, two hours."

SAM: Did he own the power plant or just run it?

L G MNo, it belonged to the city.

5AMs S0 he pocketed the money.

L G: Yeah, he pocketed the money. And he was the cop and everything else, y'know.

SAM:  Ahh,

L G: He was everything, every damn thing. Cop and everything.

SAM:  What was this guy's name?

L G: Perd Hughes, P-g-r-d, he's dead now. H=-u-g=h-e-s. No, he was guite a

character, And then we had old Pat Malone., This old Pat Malone, he was
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a deputy sheriff, Latah County deputy sheriff. 25 a month he got, and the
Potlatch Lumber Company paid him $25 at night to walk around their buildings.

SAM:  That much?

L G: 525. fonth, mind you, month. And the hotel there, they gave him %25, he
took care of the stove, and ha'd sit up late. Salesmen would come in those
days, come in on the caboose on the train? Passenger trains just run in
the daytime, and they'd be late in S5t. Maries, and they'd come in on the
caboose. UWell he'd sit up, y'know, and he'll tell 'em uwhere their room uwas,
net 'em their room that way. I think I told you about the time he was sitting
there in a big leather couch, y'know. He was sitting there, dozing off there,
waiting for the two o'clock freight, y'know. He's sitting there dozing. And
there was steps upstairs to the room right there. He was dozing like that

(nodding head), old guy, y'knou. Pretty soon he heard (knocking_ table)

somebody coming down the steps. And he looked over there, and here was a
guy walking in his nightshirt. And 0ld Pat said, "Hey! What the hell's the
matter with ya?" And the guy woke up. He's a sleepwalker.
"Oh, pardon me," he said. "I'm a somnambulist.,"
"Jell," 0ld Pat says, "I don't give a goddamn what religion you are,
you ain't oonna walk around here in your nightshirt!" (Lgygné.) Somnambulist,
I guess that's the word for it. He said, "You're ain't gonna walk around in
your nightshirt." The guy woke up. O0ld Pat didn't know what the religion
a somnambulist was.
SAM:  You told me that one about the woman that came and thought she knew Pat from
the old times. You remember that one?
L G: Uell he used to be a cop in Duluth, Minnescta. And I don't think I told
you that ons. Y'know he was getting old, y'know. And somebody, a drunk that
was in thes hotel, y'know, and they told Pat to put him out. And Cld Pat

had rheumatism tknowe He got u and he put his arms and both hands and
? por ?
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jammed the door like thate. Then he put his foot up (showing great sxertion)--

and he kicked the guy out (chuckles). Some crime would come up, y'know, and

say 0ld Pat couldn't track an elephant in four foot of snow (laughs).
Y P La3ugns,
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He'd find a match, "Oh tut-tut-tut, I've got him!"™ (Chuckles.) "Tut-tut-

tut, I got him."

Yhat do you mean, just lighting a match?

: No, he'd found a match laying there where the crime hac been committed.
He'd got the evidence. They had a little jail made out of two by fours.
Put guys in there, and the guys before them had got a place on the corner
cut out. Just push it out, and they'd go to touwn, y'know. And they'd come
back and they'd pull it back in (iéﬂﬂﬂil' It was all made out of two by
fours, and they'd push and pull it back in, see.

: Did Pat know about that?

: Not for a long time. He was downtoun there, and here was one of his pri-

soners nebting drunk. And he went back to the jail, the prisoner was back
3 g ]

in jail (laughs).

3AMs  He saw Pat and he ran back.

: He didn't know Pat seen him, and well, h2 was on his way back anyhou.
He had a few beers on his way back, and he got there before Pat got back
there. He was asleep. Some of them old lumber jacks hac built some old
shacks along the little river there. And they had a fire chief there, y 'knou,

their fire department fire chief. All volunteer, I was one of 'em. Andg

this guy was on the other side of this creek, and this cabin caught fire.

the guy that was on nights there, oh he was madcer than hell, because
the thing blazed up at two in the mcerning, and 30 below zero y'know. And
when he got over there, this guy, an old drunken lumber jack, was fast asleep.

And he got mad at him. 'Goddamn you," he said, "you set this place on fire."

"ihen I come over here to go to bed it was burning,back there then uwhen I come



to bed!" (Laughs.) It was burning when he went to bed, so he knew he didn't
do it. O0Oh boy, it was things like that, one after the other. I've got a
picture of Cld Pat someplace.

5AM:  Now there's one picture in here of Pat (gg_The Trees Grew Tall). Is that
the one?

L G: VYeah, that's the one I give. He was getting old then, see. But he was
fearless when he was in good shape. Nobody could run over him.

5AM: UWhat about this other guy that you were saying, this Perd Hughes? uhat
kind of character was he?

L G: Oh, he was guite a guy. He run an engine, see. Gome outfit made bricks
down Deary went out of business. And this was a great big Corliss engine,
and they bought this engine to run the generator supplied the town, like I'm
telling ya, with electricity. They've a different current on this kind than
that current there that they had on that, That was direct, and they charge
you so much an hour.

SAM: So what about this Hughes?

L G: Uell, there was guite a big family of those Hughes'. This Perd was guite
a guy. He went up where the (nggﬁggg) dam is overflowed now, he went up,
and he was raising a garden down there where the dam, but 'course the dam
covered it all over. I was telling you about that big cedar tree, 52 feet
around it? Didn't tell ya about it? UWell there was a little patch of cedar
up there, it was about ten acres, and one tree was 52 feet around it--that
would make it 18 feet diameter. And so the Potlatch gave this 10 acres to
the state of Idaho, and course they gave 'em more timber somewhere else, see.
And he lived up around in that country there, Perd did. But he run this plant
there for quite awhile. And there was a lot of bootleggers arounc there, a
lot of 'em. So anyhow the place caught fire, and I got over there first.

They had a stove, all wood stove, ses. And I lifted the lid off and theres uwas
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a still in the stove. A great big still, y'know, with the coils going around.
You ever sase a whiskey still?

SAM:  Never have.

L. 63 Yeah? uell, you put the mashing stuff in the big rig, and then you heat
it. And there's copper coils 'round, and as the vapor is golng through
these copper coils, and then it goes out down through water (you put water
around part of copper coil), then the coolness goes up, and that's uhiskey
that comes through there. And I said, "Jesus Christ, Percd," I said, ‘geez,
you want to hide that." (Chugkles.) 0h, there used to be a lot of bootlegging
around there.

5AM:  Was he doing the bootlegging himself?

L G: UWell, I suppose him and somebody else had it together, There was a lot
of them around there,

SAM: UWas he in the law that time?

L G¢ Yeah, he was a cop. Oh that didn't make any difference. Cop and the lauw.

SAMs 1 want to change this tape.

(End of Side B)

L G: VYou're getting it down, eh? I didn't know that.

SAM: Don't let it affect you at all, It's just the best way to get it douwn.,

L G: All right nou. Peewee Eller was second cook and baker at the camp.
Peewee's gone a day or two when shouldn't have been gone, and when he got
back the first cock was gonna can him. 350 Peeuwee was a faster runnsr than
the first cook, and he rushed up tc the office to quit. Getting it?

SAM:  Yeah.

L G: Uthen he got up to the office the superintendent of the camps happened to
be there. Peewse told him and the superintendent wouldn't let him quit. So

then comes the cock running after him to can him, and the superintendent says,



fiihat's the matter with you?"
"isll," he says, "I want to can teewen." "Uell,'" the superintendent

says, "I just hired Peewee for your job." (Laughs.)

54f:  That took care of that.

L G: Yell, is that still on?

5AM: Yeah, ycah, don't pay any attention to it.

L G: DPecwee was baker, and he started to make cream puffs. And something
happenzc to them, more air had got under there than cream. then the lumber-

ing around the table starting biting into them, thzy exploded right
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in thoir face. You bite into one and (slaps_hants)...He's a car salesman nou.
SAM:  Is he?
L G: Goord one. Comes up here and sees me every once in awhile. Have you got
it on nouw?
L G: You can shut it on this. This is about his store doun there, Tcause this
is Crofino. ALl richt. Peecwce had a second hand store and upholstery thereo.
Anc when I moved doun there I spent quite a bit of time, passed time away

Relping him, and for company too. He had a cigar stors Indian in the windou,

o

ouoht it from somebody. And a squau camz over there and she sald, "Is
Peswee here?!

I said, "No, he's gone out buying."

She said, "How much does he want for the cigar store Indian in the
uindow?" Well I told her what I thought he wanted for it. And she said,
Miait a minute. When he comes back, tell him he can have my husband Sam, and
his fishing rights and hunting rights go with him for 580, (Eﬂygﬁigg.)

S5aM:  Uhen we stopped before you were starting to tell me about Prohibition and

about somz of bootlegging that was going on, I really wanted you to kaep

telling me some of that stuff.



L G: It was really a fight around here, y'know. And it was a serious crime,

really serious. Douwn at the county jail there they had it full of bootleggers
from Orofino and around Bovill and Southwick and those countries around there.
Years afterwards one would meet the other one that he'd met in jail, and

they always claimed they went to all same college together. "An old college
friend of mine."

5AM: UWould they be pretty hard on a bootlegger when they'd catch him?

L G: Nine months., 'Course they were good here, Moscow was good., Good jail.

SAMs Did they get caught very often?

L G: UWell they'd do their nine months, y'know.

5AM: Did they arrest a lot of people? Did many guys get caught?

L G: Uell, some of them never got caught, never got caught. But others, y'knouw,
probably the deputy sheriff'd blow in there and pretend he was a lumber jack
with caulked shoes on and everything, and by god, there'cd be a guy that wanted
to sell him something--the bootlegger. 'Course the bootleggers, all of 'em
had little places out here, ranches or something. And then they claim the
Greeks piled in here from Spokans. 1 went out one time with a bunch from
Bovill. Somebody come in and told us that Pat Malone was taking a bunch to
search for an outfit that had wrecked a car out of touwn. Ue all went ocut
there, you know, and Pat gave a lot of them flashlights to search around.
Maybe I dwouldn't tell the rest of this,

5AM:  No go ahead, it sounds like it's going to be a good story.

L G¢ UWell I went out with another guy, and we drove out there, and he walked
up on a windfall, Right at the end of the windfall, gee, there was a bunch
of bootleg liquor there, genuine whiskey, and about a five gallon keg of
wine, And these guys they grabbed the whiskey and they left the wine sticking
out there., There was tuwo Greeks in charge of that, they got them,

SAM: I heard that Pat wasn't very tough on the moonshiners because he was drinking



so much himself,

L G: That's so. Yeah. He was a pretty good old soul though. He'd been a cop
in Duluth, finnesota. (Egggg.) ell you've got quite a bit of dope there
tonight.

5AM: Yah., Uell, we've been talking for an hour.

L G: It was really funny those days. Uell a fella talks and then he thinks of
more to say, you know. One brings on another.

SAM: I was thinking of the story that you told me about the new teacher in
Bovill.

L G: Oh yeah.

SAM: Tell me that one again?

L G: Yeah., Okay. Y'know, when school was over there'd be lots of outsiders
apply for a job for the next school teaching period. Some of them would
quit and there'd be an opening for others. Uell they got letters from all
over, and they got one letter from some young girl. She was in one of these
finishing girls! schools back East, and she got the job. And at that time
Mrs. David run the boarding house. And they had a guy there, an old lumber-
jack kinda looked after it. For a few days some of these outsiders that had
come in from different places, they had nowhere to board right away until
the women of the town found them out and picked them up and took them home
to board., This girl, the first chance for the first few days she had was
in this boarding house. And they had pork and beans for dinner, and of
course she always used big big words whenever she mentioned, talked about
anything, teacher did. And the boarding boss, he shoved the pork and beans
over to her, and she took the pork and beans. The pork was strong. A feu
days later they had pork and beans again. And the boarding boss sid, "Lady,
will ya have some pork and beans?"

She said, "No. The pork is too astute.”
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And he laughed, he said, "Lady, it ain't the pork makes your ass toot,
it's the beans.” (Laughs.) Nou that's on there. Uell they'll sort that
out.

5AM: That's a good story.

(Break.)

L G: And wé'd be together. OK. You'd go in and you'd buy yourself a beer, and
you'd give 'em a twenty doller bill. Well your chum'd got the number of this
bill., He didn't go in with you, he got the number off it. About two or three
hours later he'd come in and plank down a dollar bill, buy himself a drink.
He'd be rarrying a package of laundry over his arm, y'know, they usec to.

And the bartender'd gave him change for a dollar. "Oh," he says, "you made

a mistake." He said, "It was twenty. In fact," he said, "I didn't have any-
thing to do, and I had that bill in my hand, and I wrote the number on ny
laundry here."

"iell," the quy'd say, "I don'teel"

"yell, call the manager!" The manager'cd come over and here was the 20
dollar bill with that number that was on the man's laundry. "Give him the
change!" And that was an old gag years ago. And not very long ago doun at
Orofino they pulled the same nag, and they got by with three placess. And
the only reason they didn't get by on the last place is there was a long bar,
it had a cash register at that end and a cash register on the other. uhen
the 20 dollar man come in, y'know, "Oh," he said, "no, by god.," And the guy
looked in both cash registers, and it scared the guy. And they pulled out,
but they caught 'em, the cops caught 'em there.

(Break.)

S5AM:  ‘as the chuck i1n the camps good?

L G: Oh yeah, you bet. Keep the men in good shape, y'know. You keep 'em

contented, and that means a lot to the work they do outside.



(Break.)

SAM: Anc the jokes that you played on guys in the cedar mill? I read in the book,
according to John Miller, that you liked to play jokes.

L G: Yeanh, I did. I wish I could think of them right quick. Yeah, I dic.

SAM: Well I read about that one story about the guy that you were scaling that
log, and it was defective,

L G: 0Oh yeah.

5AM:  You want to tell me that, ‘cause you haven't told me that one yet.

L G: Okay. He's dead too, that guy. Uell, a pole, see? uell a pole'd come
in when I was head scaler. You had to classify the length and the width and
everything like that. Classifications, it was six feet from the butt, and
the top classification, all come in together, y'know. O0h, dozens and dozens
of different classifications on even one pole. UWell this guy brought in
a bunch of poles, his own poles, see, selling them to them. 1I'd aluways ogive
him a good break, he knew that. And this pole, I sized her up and it looked
kind of funny to me, and I said, "By gosh, I'm positive that's rotten right
there,"

He come in and he said, "No, theré's nothing wrong with that.”

"Jell" I says, "I think there is."

"yell now," he says, "I'1l tell you Leo," he says, "if you cut that pole
you're conna pay for both ends, you're going to pay for the pole the way it
is."

"OK,." I said,"They take my check." You don't know what an increment
borer is, do you?

SAM:s  Noe
L G: All right. 1It's about that long, and there's a hole there, and there's
another part of it with a handle. It fits in that hole and you snap this thing

on it, And this is hollow in here, and when you screw that in, the thread is



on the outside. By the way, it was made in Sweden. And then you turn it

down, and this will screw way down in there as far as you turn it. If you
only want it three-elighths, you size that pole up, I'd want to go eight inches,
see. I'1l]l screw it down eight inches, and you push a needle down in there,
the length of this, there's room for a needle inside. And then you pull it
out, it's just the size of a cigarette. And you can count all the rings on

its 1I've handled that thousands of times. It'll show you the rings on it,

and if there's any rot it'll show you the rot., It's called an increment

borer, I-n-cer-g-meg-n-t.

SAM:  Yeah.

L G: I'd have to tap hundreds of poles sometimes in a day, just three-eighths,
a half inch, give yod?%enetration of the creosote. Before he came after I
scooped down into there, pulled her out anc I could see the rot. '"Uell, he
said, "Leo," he said, "that don't show anye.."

I said, "It does." I said, "There's something funny about it to me."

"Okay," he says, "if you cut that pole you'll pay me for the pole."

"Okaye. Now," I said, "if I cut that pole and it's rotten, who's qoing
to cut the rest of the way 'til it stops being rotten?"

"By God, I will!" Fine and dandy. He says, "I will." Okay. I called
a couple of guys, two saw gangs see, if I'd mark it to cull they'd cull it,
trim too., O0Oh boy, there was rot like that. "Now," I said, "you will finish
that, cut that every five feet if it's rotten." He cut it twice I think,
five foot off, pret'near ruined it for him, y'know, because the bottom part
was just a piling and the top part was a small pole., 1 think the pole uas
53, 55 foot long.

So, he started a gas station at Troy, and oh, he was always tickled for
me to come over, y'know, and talk to him. I'd go through from Orofino, I

lived there for a little while, go in to Moscow, and I'd go through his place
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there, and stop svery time there. His name was Hilding Linderman. I said
to him one time, "By God I'm going to guit coming in and buying gas from youl."
I said, "Remember that pole?" And he laughed to beat hell. He said, "I've
been eypping you everytime you come here on account of that pole.," He
hadn't,

"Jell," I said, "I figured you had." But I knew he hadn't, Honest
quy. He couldn't figure that out, but it did look off to me, ‘'‘cause I'd
seen so many of 'em, y'know. Got a break in there when it was young or
something, catface started in there.,

SAM:  Tell me about catface, what's catface now?

L G: A bruise on a pole when it's young, it will leave a bruise, and then the
bark will cover that over, and keep covering it over, and there's rot in
there, see. Rot will get in there. And you don't want to take anything with
a catface on it. God I used to know the classifications and the size of
the poles just like that. Most guys would have a bio sign board up there,
so much around here and the top, and he'd have to look down. I could stand
right on one end, I had a guy on the other end, he just measured the top,
if he measured it there he'd call the number back to me. I could remember
them all just (snaps fingers) that guick. One day there it was maybe it was
10 or 11 hours, one thousand and eioht poles, checked and remanufactured.
They were a wonderful bunch of poles, and mostly big long ones, 40's and 45's
and longer. And they were a wonderful bunch of poles, trucks bringing 'em
in and some of 'em come on flat cars. Then I'd have to mark any that were
cut see, and then go back and reclassify them. 1008 in a day. And this
sonofagun that was on the other end with me, young guy, his name was iayne
Smithe Oh he was fast, of course all that he knew was to number it, y'know.
You had a tape that goes round them, and he'd call a number back to me and

then I'd have the number at thz top or the butt, where he was at, and then
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I'd place the top with 'em, the size that was around the top-=-1,2,3,4, the
size on top. There was 1008, not counting these we had fo saw back. We had
two saw gangs working, three men in each saw gang. We'd mark 'em with chalk
and they'd go out and cut 'em up. You get to be fast. If you have a good
memory you get fast.

SAM:  Uhat else did you do besides scale on that cedar yard?

L G: Uell I run the treating plant for a long time.

S5AM:  You did them both the same time?

L Gz No, no,one at a time., VYeah, the treating plant. I could have been the
yard foreman, but I didn't want it, 'cause I'd make just as much the other uay.
I scaled all the poles that come in. I had a quy helping me. They had a big
long runway and rails up to where the truck would dump 'em or where the flat
car would dump'em. And then the gang would roll 'em down, and I'd be on the
encd with the tape and measure 'em and mark 'em with yellow chalk, yellow crayon,
won't wash off. Classify 'em and then mark them., 'Course the moment there was
something wrong with it, I'd have to stop on them a little bit and cut and
measure them back, and then go back after they sawed it. And there was horses,
and they had rollers on this big long rcllway. And the guy with the horse
would pull 'em down and then he'd dump 'em off on different sides to the class,
size of the pole and all that, all the way down there. If they had 50's, 60's,
and all just classes of them, they'd have a pile from each side, y'know, then
he'd just roll them off., He'd have some guys rolling them out for him. Then
he'd turn around, probably had three or four poles, the horse pulling, and
they were on dead rollers see, great big four foot rollers. And he'd pull
them down there.

But anyhow this guy--pocr soul's dead. I'11l think of his name after awhile,

Very serious guy. And he'd come up, and I1'd have it marked v'know, and he'd

throw the chain around it and then he'd hook up to the horse, seea. S0 he'd



SAMe

L G

SAM:

L G:

stand back and (clicks tongue), "Get up," y'know, a little bit hard to start.

Well this time there was a great big pole, oh I think it was about a 70, a

good size one. And I sized it up, I sawed five foot off the butt. I already

had the thing marked its right length with the five foot still on it, and then

I had the guy saw five foot off the butt. And it stayed right there, it didn't

move when he sauwed her off. And I just pushed it down a little bit and marked

the length on the rest of it, see, and pushed that piece back. This guy come

up there
up, five
went and
He never
probably
onto the

Do you

and he looked at it and he threw the chain around it and hooked her
foot long. And he dug down y'know and had the horse dig down--off they
they had a five foot chunk! (laughs). God, he never forgot that.
forgot that. And it worked fast too, those rollers worked fast,

three horses there, three guys. B8né'd pull away and the next'd haok
rest and pull 'em away.

think he knew right away?

Oh, well a little ways he had, because he never looked back. But when he

noticed the horse wasn't doing anything, hardly pulling it (chuckling) o I

used to go down and see him, he moved down to Clarkston. God he loved to see

me come,

in there,

Yah,

gee., His wife lives there now alone. He sure loved to see me come

Uell we was always laughing and pulling stunts, y'know.

Jhat about that old vat in the treating plant? It seemed to me from

what I read about that in John fliller's book, that was a pretty dangerous place,

somebody

could fall in that.

Well, they had these great big tanks, y'know, 12 foot deep, and you hold a

carlcad of poles, standing them up on end. And the creosote, I've had it lots

of times

up to 260 degrees fahrenheit. Y'know boiling is 212. Many a time,

when you're hooking 'em, going on top of a load after you've pumped 'em out,

you had to watch you didn't fall in, And I wouldn't let 'em work, fool around

a pole until I got every drop of boiling creosote out of it. UWait, 'cause it'd



drip anyhow on them. Creosote's a sonofagun, burns you, and anything. Gh
I forgot a lot of them jokes I used to play on 'em, I forgot 'em. Told you
the one about old man Miller, y'know, he had a peg leg?

SAMs  No, you didn't tell me that one.

L G: Ckay, Johnny didn't want that. Uell, when I was running the plant, old man
Miller, they were kinda up against it. And I give him a job firing, after we
was all ready to fire, if we'd got the pump out in the morning, we had to have
the steam and all that. Well this night it had snowed to beat hell, and he
had to take the wheelbarrow and get wood, see. And I come down and I thought
I was seeing things. They'd be two holes, a foot print and one hole, and then
a straight line. (Softly:) God am I that mad, I wonder what in the...That's
the way it'd be right along there. There'd be two holes, then a foot print and
one hole, and a straight hole, after that there'd be another muple of straight
holes down, and then a footprint. And I got there, it took me a long time to
figure: it uwas old peg leg Miller with a wheelbarrow, and he'd rest the wheel-
barrow, and it had legs on it y'know, and they'd make two holes. Uhen he
started off, his foot on this side and his peg leg on that side. And then the
wheel would make a straight lime way down. (Chuckles.)

SAM:  That one must of been a hard one to figure out. That really must have been.

L G: Yeah, surse. I thought I was seeing thinags.

SAM:  How did this Catface, what was his name, Catface Ed?

L G: Catfaced Ed, yeah.

5AM:  How did he get his name?

L Gt I give it to him! 1I'd go out and these poles would come in with catface aon
'em, y'know. I'c have to turn 'em over and if I spotted that catface I'd
have to cut it, y'knouw.

SAM:  You mean you always had to turn it over, you didn't find them on Zop?

L G: HNo, they'd turn 'em over so vou couldn't see 'em. Y'know it's hard to turn

\s]
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a big pole over in the woods, real hard, with a peavey y'know. And all the
time I was there I don't remember ever having a broken pole,

I had to laugh at this guy now, he's quite a logger nou, he's not very
old either. {(Well I was over at a party with him. Phil, him and his wife
give parties for their best customers, see, and this Gould, he's shoved lots
of business to Phil, all these different truckers and a couple of sawmills
doun around Orofino and all that country. 5o theyinvite him up to a2 big mzal
once in awhile.) e was putting out a big bunch of poles for REA, Y'know what
that is? Rural Electrification, that come in right after Roosevelt. Rural
Clectrification. Well they'd give you how to frame the poles see, some of
'em framed down one way, and some of 'em would be framed hip, like that.
This REA got had a system of their ocwn, and so many holes this way for cables
to hold them here and there, y'know. And again where to put the crossarm,
they had machineries to do all of that. This Gould-~his dad, he's retired nou,
his dad hauled some of these logs down the Clearwater Valley doun around Orofino
and all that countrye Those engineers would make mistakes, and change 'em.
Jhen you bored a hole in you had to plug it with a hot cresosote plug, see.
Of course the bolts would go in in the field, but these holes were wrong. Well
we hat to plug them see, in the fleld., So I pot a big bunch of plugs, and I
treated 'em. I put 'em in a ogunnysack and I boilsd 'em in with the rest of
the poles, see. (I forget whether it was young Gould? Anyhow, somebody went
in for Gould.) When they got ready to to haul this load of poles, I threw this
up on the pole pile, y'know, on with the poles. And he said toc me, "Uhat's
that?"

"Ah, it's a dead cat!" And I'll be goddamned if he didn't throw it off,
Got down the road and he threw it out. And these engineers want to know,
"Didn't he give you any plugs?"

”NO . 1"



He said, "Well, didn't he give you any at all:"
"No," He didn't know I was kidding him. And he took this sack of plugs
about that long, y'know.

SAMs  That's what happens when you joke psople.

SAM: This sometimes happens to me too. Peopnle think I'm serious uwhen I'm just
“idding "em,

L G: He threw it off. Jesus, had to search for hours to look find it. They
sgarched for hours to find it.

Another time there they put a bunch of poles down someplace, and the
trucker come back and he told ms, he said, "Say those guys, the governmant
outfit set the poles up but" he said, "there's one there," and y'know a wood-
pecker, if there's any worms in the pole, (pecking) "Ww=wu-wu-wy-yw=-Yy-we,"
see~-bad.

And I saic, "Now, God, none of those poles was rotten, I know they wasn't."

9}

Uell he told me were it was, out about 20 miles out there, 15 or 20 miles.
50 1 went out there, and here was the bastard in there, "Bb-bb-bb-bb-bb-bb-bb,"
Yell they hadn't gotten any machinery or no wirass onto it or crossarms or
anything, they hacdn't put that on yet. And I told them, I said, "You
ought to pull that out, saw it. Pulled it out and sawed it, not a stain of a
WOTM. The company paid for it. They'd rather do that then have it wormy.
He pulled it out. They couldn't figure out why that woodpecker was pecking in
there. They don't peck unless thesy listen and then peck.

SAM:  Did they sver figure it?

L G: No, neither did I, Uell I figured it'd be a nutty woodpecker, a nutty son-
ofab, "Now next time you hear him, shoot him." VYeah, nutty woodpecker. I'11
tell ya how nutty they ere. e had a great big boiler, y'know, to hzat this

creosote, a big smokestack sticking way up, and I seen one up there picking



on that, on this iron smokestack, Packino on it! And I called 'em out, I
said, "Take a look at this."

"0h," ore guy says, "™that's that sonofabitch that's picking on that pole
up arnund Avon!"

Now the pole business is gone to hell now. Because where they buy poles
from these guys, big companies and all that, would rather cut the poles up
into lumber--~they get more out of it. Like I was telling you about siding and
all that beautiful cedar siding and that, y'know, in these homes. Otherwise
you only get so much for a2 pols in the woods. Now they take one of them a
saw them up into this stuff here where it's three or four hundred dollars a

thousand, And they like that knotty stuff...

Transcribed and typed by Sherrie Fields
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